

CABINET (SPECIAL) WEDNESDAY 25 JULY 2007 AT THE RISING OF STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE OR AT 8.30 PM WHICHEVER IS LATER

COMMITTEE ROOMS 1 & 2 HARROW CIVIC CENTRE

MEMBERSHIP (Quorum 3, including the Leader or Deputy Leader)

Chairman: Councillor CHRIS MOTE (Leader of the Council)

Councillors:

- 1. David Ashton
- 2. Marilyn Ashton
- 3. Mrs Camilla Bath
- 4. Miss Christine Bednell
- 5. Susan Hall
- 6. Janet Mote
- 7. Paul Osborn
- 8. Mrs Anjana Patel
- 9. Eric Silver

Issued by the Democratic Services Section, Legal and Governance Services Department

Contact:

Kate Boulter, Senior Democratic Services Officer Tel: 020 8424 1269 email: kate.boulter@harrow.gov.uk

CABINET (SPECIAL)

WEDNESDAY 25 JULY 2007

AGENDA - PART I

PROCEDURAL

1. **Declarations of Interest**

To receive declarations of personal or prejudicial interests, arising from business to be transacted at this meeting, from:

- (a) all Members of the Committee, Sub Committee, Panel or Forum;
- all other Members present in any part of the room or chamber. (b)

2. Minutes

Of the Cabinet meeting held on 19 July 2007 be deferred to the next ordinary meeting of Cabinet.

3. Arrangement of Agenda

To consider whether any of the items listed on the agenda should be considered with the press and public excluded.

4. **Petitions**

To receive petitions (if any) submitted by members of the public/Councillors.

5. **Public Questions**

To receive any public questions received in accordance with paragraph 16 of the Executive Procedure Rules.

(Note: Paragraph 16 of the Executive Procedure Rules stipulates that questions will be asked in the order notice of them was received and that there be a time limit of 15 minutes.)

6. Councillor Question Time

Fifteen minutes will be allowed for Members of the Council to ask a Portfolio Holder a question on any matter in relation to which the Executive has powers or duties.

ADULT AND HOUSING

KEY 7. Outcome of Spring 2007 Statutory Consultations on Community Care Services -Fair Access to Care Services (Pages 1 - 42)

Report of the Corporate Director (Adults and Housing).

KEY Outcome of Spring 2007 Statutory Consultations on Community Care Services -8. Day Centre Charging (Pages 43 - 76)

Report of the Corporate Director (Adults and Housing).

AGENDA - PART II - NIL



Meeting: Cabinet

Date: 25 July 2007

Subject: Outcome of Spring 2007 statutory consultations

on Community Care Services - Fair Access to

Care Services

Key Decision: Yes

(Executive-side only)

Responsible Officer: Penny Furness-Smith,

Corporate Director of Adults and Housing

Services

Portfolio Holder: Cllr Silver – Adult Community Care Services and

Issues Facing People with Special Needs

Exempt: No

Enclosures: Appendix 1 – Consultation – Analysis of

Responses

Appendix 2 – Equality Impact Assessment Appendix 3 – What the proposal would mean

1 SECTION 1 – SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Summary

This report sets out the public response to the statutory consultations on the proposed changes to the eligibility criteria under Fair Access to Care Services. It also sets out options for Cabinet to consider in response to the consultation exercise.

Recommendations

Cabinet is requested to:

- 1. Determine whether to proceed with the proposal to meet only needs that fall within the 'Critical' FACS band and;
- 2. If so, to agree the proposed actions to mitigate this as set out in section 2.4 of this report.

Reason

Cabinet agreed at its meeting of 14 December 2006, that a consultation

should be undertaken on the criteria the Council will apply, to determine who qualifies for social care services under Fair Access to Care Services. The consultation has now concluded and Cabinet need to make a decision about the level at which the eligibility criteria should be set for Harrow.

2 SECTION 2 - REPORT

2.1 Background

At its meeting on 14 December 2006 Cabinet considered the report of the Director of Financial and Business Strategy on the Revenue Budget 2007-08 to 2009-10.

It was resolved that: "In addition to the general consultation with stakeholders, officers be instructed to commence specific consultation on the following proposals, as detailed in the report of the Director of Financial and Business Strategy

- Access to Care Eligibility Criteria
- Day Care Charging"

At its meeting on 15 March 2007, Cabinet considered a report which set out details of the formative process, which had engaged key stakeholders and asked members to confirm the options on which they wished to consult. This decision was subsequently revised at a Portfolio Holder Meeting held on 22 March 2007.

In 2003 the Government published the national Fair Access to Care Services (FACS) criteria. These are guidelines, with 4 bandings of needs, which councils must use to assess whether someone is eligible to receive adult social care services, having taken account of their resources. The bandings describe the seriousness of the threat to independence or other consequences if needs are not addressed. This, alongside carers' legislation, sets the framework within which we ensure everyone is considered fairly.

In Harrow, the Council currently provides residents with services under two FACS bandings or criteria – 'Substantial' and 'Critical'. These are the two highest levels of needs. Everyone is entitled to a community care assessment of their circumstances and need for care and support. Each individual case is different, but the assessment will determine which services are required to meet assessed needs under these two criteria.

The consultation proposed that Harrow will meet only needs that fall within the 'Critical' FACS band. Harrow will stop paying for any assessed needs at the 'Substantial' FACS band or below.

2.2 Consultation

The public consultation followed good practice set out in the Harrow Compact and the Cabinet Office Code of Practice on Consultation. The Cabinet Code

Page 2

of Practice on Consultation suggests that it is good practice to undertake informal consultation with stakeholders to allow their engagement while proposals are still at the formative stage. It is felt that this more informed consultation exercise ensures that stakeholders are engaged early and have a better understanding of the proposals.

42 key stakeholders were identified and invited to a pre-consultation event held on 12 February. A total of 27 individuals representing 17 organisations attended the event. The views of this group helped to inform the consultation document and process. The views of these stakeholders were reported to Cabinet at its meeting on 15 March.

The consultation period lasted 13 weeks and ran from 2 April 2007 to 29 June 2007. The consultation comprised the following:

- A consultation document (also available as an easy read version, audio tape and in community languages) which was sent to
 - o 4135 current and recent service users
 - o 2000 carers
 - 693 organisations (including voluntary, community and faith groups, GPs, Health and other partners, schools and contracted providers)
 - o 63 Councillors
- The Harrow Council website was used to advertise the consultation with links to the PDF documents of the proposal, feedback sheets, case studies, frequently asked questions, FACS – an outline impact assessment, as well as copies of the adverts, posters and information about the public meetings.
- Three public meetings held on 17 May, 22 May and 11 June 2007. The Public Question Time held on 21 May also provided an opportunity for public questions on the consultation.
- Officers and Members also attended meetings and events organised by partners. These included Older People's Reference Group, Harrow User Group, Panel for Older People and three Harrow MENCAP meetings.
- The January and May 2007 editions of Harrow People carried information about the consultation. The public meetings were advertised in the Harrow Times, the Harrow Observer and the Harrow Leader.
- Posters were placed in all Harrow libraries, and on council and community notice boards, as well as in the civic centre and other People First sites. Copies were also sent to GP surgeries and directly to local organisations to place on their notice boards. Subsequent posters also provided information about the public meetings. Information was also circulated to voluntary and community groups for inclusion in any newsletters or mailings that they were producing during the consultation period.
- In order to encourage feedback, potential respondents were able to choose from the following methods to express their views.
 - By post using a free business reply envelope (to send back feedback sheets)
 - Calling the dedicated telephone consultation line (feedback sheets were filled in by council staff)
 - o Via fax

- Via email to the dedicated consultation email address
- By taking part in the four public meetings

2.3 Key Messages from the Consultation

A total of 426 individual responses were received (feedback sheet, written response, telephone or email). In addition sme 97 people attended the 3 specific public meetings, and 46 attended the Public Question Time.

An analysis of the response to the consultation is set out at Appendix 1. A copy of the individual responses, suitably anonymised has been made available in the Members' Library.

The vast majority of respondents were opposed to the proposed change, with the key messages to emerge from the consultation being:

- a. The Council is targeting the most vulnerable members of the community 'Critical' covers the most vulnerable people and these will continue to receive council funded services.
- b. The proposals will lead to increased costs to the NHS and council in the long term, as the needs of service users affected will increase the proposed change relates to social care needs and does not affect services paid for or provided by the NHS. This report sets out proposals to address these concerns.
- c. The Council should reduce costs in other ways, e.g. by reducing high salaries or cutting staff number a total of £19m was saved during 2006/07 across all areas of the council.
- d. The Council should make attempts to raise revenue and increase the level of central government grant Harrow has and continues to lobby Government for extra resources, and for 2007/08 set a Council tax just below the maximum allowed before capping.
- e. Community Care budgets should be increased to avoid an implementation of the proposals at the expense of other council budgets the Council's current financial position precludes this.
- f. The proposal will increase the burden of care for carers, some of whom may need to stop working or may be unable to maintain their caring role carers are entitled to a carers' assessment in their own right.
- g. Simple and easy to understand information is needed about how the 'Critical' and 'Substantial' categories are defined and assessment decisions made we will continue to publish easy to understand guidance including case studies.
- h. The need for speedy reassessments for those with changing/deteriorating needs and for the council to ensure there are enough staff to achieve this our performance on assessments is very good overall 95.8% of assessment of new clients are started within 2 days, and 86.4% are completed within the required timescale (28 days).
- i. The need for some services to be made available to those that would lose their current services such as respite care, outreach

services and support for domestic and personal care — we are proposing to build stronger relationships and capacity within the voluntary sector to develop support for individuals who have services reduced or withdrawn following the reassessment and for new referrals who do not have 'Critical' needs. Service users could be signposted to other services.

2.4 Responding to the consultation – options for consideration

The guidance on eligibility criteria under Fair Access to Care Services states that in constructing the criteria councils should prioritise needs that have immediate and longer-term critical consequences for independence ahead of needs with substantial consequences.

The guidance also states that in setting their eligibility criteria councils should take account of their resources, local expectation and local costs.

Following the Portfolio Holders' Meeting held on 22 March 2007, the consultation document proposed that Harrow will meet only needs that fall within the 'Critical' FACS band, and will stop paying for any assessed needs at the 'Substantial' FACS band or below. Cabinet are able to retain the status quo if they so wish. However, in reaching a decision Members will need to take account of the resources available and the consequent impact on the budget. If a decision is made not to proceed, on the basis of the proposal set out in the consultation document, the budget pressure could not easily be contained.

Three authorities now meet only 'Critical' assessed needs (Northumberland, West Berks and Wokingham). Two, Lambeth and Harrow are consulting about this proposed change. There has been significant national coverage of the pressures facing all local authorities and eight other London Boroughs are currently consulting on proposals to change their eligibility criteria. It is anticipated that many other authorities will be considering this within the next 2 years.

An analysis of a sample of service users receiving a service as at 31 March 2007, suggests that 492 service users were receiving services for 'Substantial' needs only. They would potentially no longer be eligible to receive a service, if Cabinet decide to proceed with the proposal to meet 'Critical' needs only.

If Cabinet wish to proceed with the proposal to meet only needs that fall within the 'Critical' FACS band, the following actions could be put in place to address the concerns expressed in the consultation about increased risk:

- No reductions to packages of care can be implemented until a personal review meeting has taken place. One month's notice of any change could be given;
- To assess as 'Critical' any individual whose level of risk would be expected to reach that level within 12 weeks (currently 4-6 weeks), if their

Page 5

non-critical needs were not responded to – this represent a two-three fold increase;

- To assess as 'Critical' anyone at risk of abuse under the Council's Safeguarding Policy. The Council regards this as an extremely important matter;
- To assess as 'Critical' anyone who would have to change their accommodation status as a result of unmet need;
- To establish a formal monitoring group to determine if any of the potential concerns materialise. The group would consider appropriate measures required to reduce differential impact for any group.

The Council recognises the significant contribution that voluntary and community organisations make to supporting people in the community. We are committed to building stronger relationships and capacity within the voluntary sector, to develop support for individuals who have services reduced or withdrawn, following the reassessment and for new referrals who do not have 'Critical' needs. Service users could be signposted to other services.

2.5 Resources, costs and risks associated with the proposals

Context

There is a history of severe spending pressure in community care, and this has been evidenced by substantial overspends in the last 3 years. The actual outturn for 2006-07 was an overspend of £1.5m, as forecast earlier in the year. This spending pressure reflects growing demand and increasing complexity of need, and has been compounded by a combination of cost shunting and withdrawal from jointly funded services on the part of the PCT. It is estimated that the actions of the PCT have added a total of £3.5m a year to Council costs. Some of these issues are formally in dispute. The level of debt owed by the PCT to the Council at 31 March 2007 totalled £3.4m of which £1.7m represented disputed debts going back to 2004-05 and 2005-06.

The community care budget has been subject to considerable management action over the last few years to try and contain spending and the Council has taken a series of steps to try and contain demand, achieve good value for money on individual packages, and reduce subsidies in some areas.

These measures have not been taken in isolation but have rather been part of significant savings packages across all Council services, designed to ensure that the Council lives within its means. This is particularly important as the Council had reserves of only £1.3m at the end of 2006-07. The Council's policy is to add £1m to reserves and provisions each year from 2007-08 until such time as general balances exceed £5m.

It should also be noted that, whilst growth of £3.9m was added to the community care budget for 2007-08, this was accompanied by a package of savings of £3.7m, and the budget was set before the final outturn position for

Page 6

2006-07, which revealed additional pressure in this area, was known. Therefore, in overall terms the community care budget has not kept pace with demand.

Current Proposals

The Council has carried out consultation in relation to the Fair Access to Care Criteria and Day Care Charging in the last few months. The decision to go to consultation on these policy areas was taken in December 2006 and the formal consultation commenced in March and lasted for 12 weeks.

The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) agreed in February assumed an income from Day Care Charging of £200k in 2007-08 and £300k in a full year. The MTFS also included an annual saving of £500k arising from the proposed change to the Fair Access to Care Criteria. However, recognising the need to carry out formal consultation and have regard to the outcome of the consultation, the budget also included a risk of £500k across both these areas. This was intended to give some flexibility in relation to the decisions that would be required.

Fair Access to Care

In reaching a decision on FACS criteria Members will need to take account of the resources available and the consequent impact on the budget.

Even if Cabinet agrees to amend the criteria as suggested, there will still be considerable pressure on the budget. The proposed change to the eligibility criteria is not intended to deliver a significant saving to the council. Rather, the challenge facing the council is how to contain expenditure on adult social care within the budget available.

Continuing the current eligibility criteria, with no change in demand or demography, means that there would be additional pressure on the community care budget in 2007/08 in the order of £1.5m.

Managing the 2007-08 Budget

As outlined in the accompanying Cabinet Report the options in relation to Day Care Charging all fall short of the income target. In addition, there will be considerable pressure on the community care budget, even if the FACS eligibility criteria are changed. Therefore it will be necessary to apply to £500k risk that was identified in the MTFS in full to the community care budget in 2007-08 and beyond to deal with the pressures identified. The Adults and Housing budget will be very closely monitored during 2007-08 and steps taken to contain the pressures as far as possible.

If a decision is made not to proceed on the basis of the FACS proposal set out in the consultation document the budget pressure could only be contained by identifying compensating savings from other council services.

Planning for 2008-09 to 2010-11

The Council is commencing the work to develop its new medium term financial strategy. The decisions taken in relation to Day Care Charging and FACS will have to be taken into account in this process. It should be noted that if the proposal to change the criteria under FACS is not adopted, there will be a significant increase in the funding gap in future years.

2.6 Staffing/workforce considerations

None associated with this report.

2.7 Equalities Impact

An Equalities Impact Assessment has been undertaken alongside the consultation process. This is attached as Appendix 2. The key themes to emerge from this are:

- Many respondents to the Equalities Impact Assessment and the consultation thought that the proposals would impact equally on all service users currently assessed as having 'Substantial' only needs, and therefore no one group would be adversely impacted.
 - However, some respondents disagreed and voiced concern that the following groups COULD be differentially impacted
 - o Age
 - o Race
 - Disability
 - o Carers

in respect of the following factors

- Service users who do not 'recognise' their needs, and in particular that their needs have changed over any given period of time. This includes people with learning disabilities, dementia, mental health and mental illness.
- Service users who cannot 'vocalise' their needs. This
 includes people with speech and/or hearing difficulties,
 language issues such as ethnic minority communities as
 well as asylum seekers.
- Service users who have no one to advocate for them.
- The financial and caring implications for carers and families.

The Equalities Impact Assessment proposes the following actions to mitigate the potential risk of any differential impact:

- The establishment of a formal monitoring group to determine if any of the potential concerns materialise. The group would consider appropriate measures required to reduce differential impact for any group.
- As set out in the consultation paper, all clients will be reassessed to determine eligibility for social care services under the new criteria. This would include an assessment of the levels of risk and a period of at least one month's notice will be given for any changes.

2.8 Key Performance Indicators

The Key Performance Indicators C29 – 32 (Helped to Live at Home) may be impacted by this decision. The numbers eligible to receive a service are likely to reduce if Cabinet decides to proceed with the proposal to meet only needs that fall within the 'Critical' FACS band.

2.9 Section 17 and Crime and Disorder Act 1998 Considerations

This report deals throughout with the needs of a group of adults who are amongst the most vulnerable and at risk in Harrow.

3 SECTION 3 - STATUTORY OFFICER CLEARANCE

Name:Myfanwy Barrett Date: 17 July 2007	√	Chief Financial Officer
Name:Hugh Peart	V	Monitoring Officer
Date: 17 July 2007		

4 SECTION 4 - CONTACT DETAILS AND BACKGROUND PAPERS

Contact:

Mark Gillett
Head of Service – Commissioning and Partnerships
mark.gillett@harrow.gov.uk
020 8424 1911

Background Papers:

Harrow Code of Practice on Consultation

Cabinet Office (Better Regulation Executive) – Code of Practice on Consultation

Fair Access to Care Services – guidance on eligibility criteria for adult social care

IF APPROPRIATE, DOES THE REPORT INCLUDE THE FOLLOWING CONSIDERATIONS?

1.	Consultation	YES
2.	Corporate Priorities	YES
3.	Manifesto Pledge Reference Number	

Consultation – Analysis of Responses for the FACS Consultation

1. Summary

The majority of respondents opposed the proposal and the main concerns were:

- a. The Council is targeting the most vulnerable members of the community
- b. The proposals will lead to increased costs to the NHS and council in the long term, as the needs of service users affected will increase
- c. The Council should reduce costs in other ways, e.g. by reducing high salaries or cutting staff numbers
- d. The Council should make attempts to raise revenue and increase the level of central government grant
- e. Community Care budgets should be increased to avoid an implementation of the proposals at the expense of other council budgets
- f. The proposals will Increase the burden of care for carers, some of whom may need to stop working or may be unable to maintain their caring role
- g. Simple and easy to understand information is needed about how the 'critical' and 'substantial' categories are defined and assessment decisions made
- h. The need for speedy reassessments for those with changing/deteriorating needs and for the council to ensure there are enough staff to achieve this
- i. The need for some services to be made available to those that would lose their current services such as respite care, outreach services and support for domestic and personal care

2. Methodology

Once the proposals were drawn up potential respondents were made aware the public consultation was taking place through the following:

- Press adverts were placed in the Harrow People council magazine (January and May 2007), Harrow Times, Harrow Leader and the Harrow Observer, announcing that the consultation was taking place and subsequent adverts also provided information about the public meetings.
- A number of posters were placed in all Harrow libraries, and on council community notice boards, as well as in the civic centre & all people first sites. Copies were also sent to GP surgeries and directly to local organisations to place on their notice boards. Subsequent posters also provided information about the public meetings. Local organisations were also sent information and a request made for them to include this

- information in any relevant documents being produced for dissemination.
- The Harrow Council website was used to advertise the consultation with links to the PDF documents of each proposal, as well as copies of the adverts, posters and information about the public meetings. There were 191 'hits' on the Spring 2007 public consultations homepage for FACS and Day Centre charging.
- Consultation packs were sent out to 4,135 current, recent and potential service users, 2,000 carers, 693 local organisations and the 63 councillors. Free return envelopes were provided for completed feedback sheets. Council staff also attended a number of specific user group meetings arranged by local organisations to encourage feedback and to answer questions about the consultation. Audio tapes were also available for people who required an audio copy of the document.

The service users were made up of:

Service Area	Number of Service Users	
FACS	3625	
Mental Health service users	350	
Direct Payment users	160	
TOTAL	4135	

In addition some 2,000 carers were sent a consultation pack in partnership with Carers Support Harrow.

Carers	Number
Carers	2000

The local organisations were made up of:

Organisations	Number
Community, voluntary and faith groups	256
Providers of residential and domiciliary care in Harrow	156
Supporting People contractors	73
Schools	69
GP surgeries	39
People First sites	31
Home care provision providers	21
Mental Health Partnership	19
Harrow Resident and tenant associations	18

Harrow Libraries	11
TOTAL	693

In order to encourage feedback, potential respondents were able to choose from the following methods to express their views.

- By post using a free return envelope (to send back feedback sheets)
- Calling the dedicated telephone consultation line (feedback sheets were filled in by council staff)
- Via email to the dedicated consultation email address
- By taking part in the three public meetings organised by Harrow Council as well as attending the Public Question Time Meeting (attended by 46 people)
- By taking part in the meetings/workshops organised independently and specifically to feedback into the consultations. Three meetings organised by Harrow Mencap (three meetings attended by over 100 people of which 76 were people with learning disabilities and their families and carers), the Harrow Users Group (19 people), Milmans Day Centre service user group (37 service users), The Bridge Service Users Group meeting (37 service users), The Young Carers Project, Harrow MS Society and the Partnership for Older People (POPS) panel, Older People's Reference Group and Harrow Strategic Partnership.

Participant response - numbers

426 individual responses (feedback sheet, written response, telephone or email), the following table breaks down respondents for each consultation.

Respondent	No.	%
Service users	296	69.5%
Carers	108	25.4%
Other e.g. councillor, member of public	12	2.8%
Organisations	10	2.3%
Total Number of Responses Received	426	100%

Some 97 people attended the public meetings, of whom 20 were deemed to be from a visible ethnic minority background. Participants in each public meeting identified themselves as a mix of service users (38%), carers (49%) and voluntary organisation representatives (12%) and a GP (1%).

The following table provides a breakdown of respondents, who stated their ethnic origin when responding by completing a feedback sheet, or who called the consultation telephone line.

Ethnic origin of respondents (as stated on feedback sheets)	No	%
Asian or Asian British Bangladeshi	3	0.8%
Asian or Asian British Indian	67	17.6%
Asian or Asian British Pakistani	5	1.3%
Asian or Asian British Other	9	2.4%
Black or Black British African	3	0.8%
Black or Black British Caribbean	9	2.3%
Black or Black British Other	1	0.3%
Chinese	0	
Mixed White and Black African	1	0.3%
Mixed White and Black Asian	1	0.3%
Mixed White and Black Caribbean	1	0.3%
Mixed Other	4	1.0%
White British	246	64.7%
White Irish	13	3.4%
White Other	17	4.5%
TOTAL	380	100%

3. Consultation analysis of FACS proposals

Written, telephone or email responses to the consultation document and meetings/workshops

The following is an analysis of the response to the feedback sheets contained in the consultation document and comments received from all of the meetings/workshops.

Respondents were given the opportunity to comment on the following proposal. "Owing to the increasing numbers of older and disabled people and the financial consequences outlined in this document, the Council is making the following proposal: In the future, the Council's social care services will only meet needs that are 'critical'. The following comments were made

No.	Comment	Response
1	What is critical, how is it defined and by whose definition?	The criteria, set nationally by the Department of Health (DoH), define 'critical' for all Councils.
2	The council's idea of 'critical' and a carer's idea are different.	It is noted that there are differences in the way service users and carers take to mean critical and substantial and the national guidelines which all councils must apply.
3	Our needs vary, at times we think they are critical and other times they are substantial, because our condition changes at different times/it feels that substantial and critical overlap.	The criteria is set nationally by the Department of Health (DoH), Changing needs are considered at reviews/reassessments. Service users may also contact the Care Management Team at any time if hey believe their needs have changed significantly.
4	The proposals will create a situation where people with "substantial" social care needs become "critical" much quicker than would otherwise be the case.	Harrow proposes to change its local guidance to staff applying the DoH critical criteria to use a 12-week timeframe, so that service users who will deteriorate from substantial to critical in the next 12 weeks will continue to receive a critical level of services, to pick up this concern. See Cabinet main report 2.4, bullet point 4, options for consideration.
5	This proposal effects the most disadvantaged/vulnerable of people in our society, particularly older people who have	'Critical' covers the most vulnerable people and these will continue to receive council funded services. The criteria will apply equally to all adult social care groups, so in that sense older people will be treated

	contributed through taxation over many years and will now be denied any services needed.	no better and no worse than anyone else. However, more older people are likely to be affected, simply because there are more people aged 65 and over who use social care services than there are in any other group. The equalities impact assessment (EIA) provides more information.
6	Will service users/carers be able to appeal if they do not agree with the decisions made in a reassessment?	There is no appeal process against the determination of eligibility criteria - the 'assessment'. Service users/carers are able to complain to the council and can ask for help through the local advocacy services with making a complaint. It is noted that many people want an appeals process.
7	Will there be speedy access to reassessment if a person's condition deteriorates further?	The risk of deterioration if support was not provided is one of the factors considered when assessing the level of need. People can request a reassessment at any time and if their needs change rapidly, this can be done quickly. Also see point 4.
8	Will people with substantial needs receive any service?	Most of the individuals whom we currently support are likely to have a mixture of critical and substantial needs but only their critical needs will be met. Also see point 4.
9	This action will be unfair for those whose needs are less than critical.	Noted. People will be able to request a review of their needs if they believe they have changed significantly. Also see point 4.
10	Critical must come first but every effort must be made to support substantial for those who cannot afford the cost.	See Cabinet main report 2.4 bullet points, options for consideration. Additional support services which might be run with other voluntary services are being considered.
11	The proposals are very worrying and I do not know how I/the person I care for will be affected or how we will manage.	Those with critical needs will continue to receive help and support. We will work with local voluntary, community and faith groups to identify and encourage the development of other informal sources of support. For domestic support within the home the expectation is that people will make use of their attendance allowance (current lower rate £41 per week) for the purpose intended, such as housework, laundry and shopping services.
12	It may jeopardise elderly and disabled people's ability to live independently within the	See Cabinet main report 2.4 bullet points, options for consideration.

	community in line with the current government guidelines. It could further compromise people's ability to rehabilitate themselves back into work and off benefits, effectively strengthening the "benefit trap".	
13	This council should have planned for this, it is not a new issue, we are an ageing population.	This is a national issue. Many councils are struggling with increasing demands from a growing elderly population and people with increasingly complex disabilities which exceed current levels of government funding. Without additional resources the council is considering whether to focus resources on those most in need and modernising the way we provide services for vulnerable people.
14	A perfectly reasonable course of action, considering the reduction in funds/reluctantly I agree.	Noted.
15	The council cannot rely on voluntary organisations to bridge the gap that will be created.	The Council and voluntary organisations in Harrow have agreed a Compact, which provides a framework for working together. The council operates a system of grants to voluntary organisations and has established relationships providing services and facilities through partnerships. The council would continue to develop it's partnerships with voluntary groups in order to maximize opportunities and services for Harrow's residents. See Cabinet main report 2.4, bullet point 3, options for consideration.
16	Does this eliminate respite care? There is a basic need for 'respite care' for all people so that a 'normal' family life can be maintained.	No. Respite can be one aspect covered in an assessment of need. Where it is assessed as a critical need then it will continue to be funded by the council. Other voluntary and private providers also provide options for people to self-fund, as now.
17	Is there a disabled person involved in the decision-making process of the proposals?	The council's cabinet will make the final decision. They are all councillors elected by the people of Harrow. No current cabinet member has a registered disability. This consultation provided the opportunity for people who do have a disability to influence the cabinet's thinking. The equalities impact assessment will inform

councillors for their July Cabinet meeting.

Respondents were asked to if the proposed change would affect their life and made the following comments.

No.	Comment	Response
18	I/the person I care for will not be able to afford unsubsidised care and this will have an impact on the quality of our life.	See 15 above.
19	I/the person I care for would have no-one to socialise with.	See 15 above.
20	If services are withdrawn there is a chance that service users' health and wellbeing will be affected.	See 4 above.
21	I am unable to manage some basic domestic manual tasks such as ironing, cleaning, changing light bulbs, etc.	Some support and prevention services already exist for example mainly through services provided by the voluntary sector, which may be partly council funded. We would work with other service providers and the voluntary, community and faith sector to see how they might
22	Care for personal hygiene, confidence, dignity may suffer.	develop other informal support services they provide. Examples include the fall prevention service and the healthy living centre. Through this approach one care agency is now approaching a private shopping service at a cost of £8 per shop. The voluntary sector also provides a range of valuable services to residents. The most recent service commissioned is a floating support service from Willow Housing to assist and provide former occupiers on any issues which might prevent them from continuing to live at home. Also see point 15 above.
23	My immediate relatives live about 100 miles away.	See point 12 above.

24	Withdrawal of services will increase the burden of care on me as a carer and increase the stress Service users may become less independent, increasing the dependency on carers.	Noted. An equalities impact assessment, (EIA), partly informed by the consultation, is also going to councillors for them to consider at July Cabinet meeting. Carer groups contributed information to this. All carers are entitled to an assessment in their own right. If their needs
25	I am getting old too and being a carer is wearing. I am also suffering from a serious illness too.	are such that they cannot continue to care and meet the critical needs of the cared for person, then these will be met.
26	As a carer life is already hard, and now it will be even more difficult, particularly as I don't have help any more with cleaning and domestic help.	
27	Make sure alternative services are available to people before making changes and not to leave people without support.	See Cabinet main report 2.4, bullet point 3, options for consideration. If the changes go ahead we will explore how we might work with other organisations to develop alternative services in the community, as and when resources are available, to help support people who may no longer be eligible for specialist social care services from the council. Also see 15 above.
28	Not immediately, but it may in the future as I become less independent and able to cope.	Service users can ask for a reassessment if they believe there circumstances have changed.
29	I will still need care – but will I have to pay for all of it?	Substantial needs will have to be paid for after reassessment. Also see 4 above.

Respondents were asked to tick which of the following measures would make it easier for them, if the proposals were adopted and to list any others.

Measures that would make it easier for respondents if proposals were adopted	No.	%
Someone to assist you in deciding which services could best help you	254	60%
Giving you clear information during any reassessment and giving you a quick and clear	225	53%
decision on your eligibility		
A notice period before we change your service so that you can arrange alternatives	224	53%
Information about other services that could help meet your needs	201	47%
Advice about benefits to which you may be entitled	197	46%

Additional measures stated were that information should be available for a range of service users, i.e. larger print, Braille, appropriate foreign languages. Many respondents reiterated that they did not favour the proposals.

Respondents were asked if they thought that the Council has considered all available means of making council services efficient and value for money, 326 respondents provided an answer.

	Yes (96)	No (230)
Do you think that the Council has considered all available means of making council services efficient	29.5%	70.5%
and value for money?		

When asked to provide suggestions on how the council could make services more efficient and save money, the following replies were made:

- Cut back on 'non essential services' such as libraries
- Cut back on 'non essential expenditure' such as cycle and bus lanes, road works, translation
- Cut down on bureaucracy costs
- Reduce Members' allowances and expenses
- Cut the number of council staff, including middle management
- Do not use agencies if it is cheaper to run services 'in house'
- · Renegotiate with the central government to increase the amount of funding given to Harrow
- Increase charges where possible, such as for internet use in libraries, car parking
- Combine services/buildings where possible
- Early preventative services 'a stitch in time saves nine'
- Better forward planning
- Don't know/would need more information to provide an answer

Respondents were asked, what additional community-based support and/or prevention services they would want to have available, if the proposals were adopted, for future planning. The following services were stated:

- Respite care
- · Support services from specialist organisations such as Mencap or Mind
- Drop in centres/support and advice groups
- Outreach or more resources for my Care home
- A range of day services
- Specialist doctors, respite care, adult day care
- Support for domestic and personal care
- Shopping services and laundry services
- More social clubs
- Sheltered activities/ voluntary supported work/ support paid work

Finally, respondents were asked if there were any other points that they wanted to inform the consultation, which are listed below.

No.	Comment	Response
а	The council is being unfair in taking a short-term view, when the financial position has improved will things change?	The council reviews its services regularly and changes are made to reflect its budget situation.
b	There is an air of despair and concern for people who may be affected. Without the mental stimulation and interaction, it will affect the quality of life of people.	The impact that this consultation may have on individuals is noted. This is a statutory consultation and by law, the council must provide information to people who may be affected by this proposal.
С	Changes will have a major impact on carers, many are struggling to cope and may have to give up work	Noted. The equalities impact assessment which will be sent to councillors for the July Cabinet meeting. All carers are entitled to an assessment in their own right. If their needs are such that they cannot continue to care and meet the

	less or give up work.	critical needs of the cared for person, then these will be met.
d	Community services helped me over a difficult period, I hope they are there for other people to benefit from in the future.	
е	I foresee real difficulties for service users with moderate needs.	See 15 above.
f	What other actions is the council considering to raise money or make savings elsewhere?	In 2006/2007 the council made £19 million savings across the authority in all departments, so it is not just adult social care that is affected.
g	Why not look at ways to increase funding for Harrow from central government, instead of adopting the proposals?	Harrow lobbied the government for extra resources, nil additional funds have been secured to date.

Analysis of the public meetings

The participants at the public meetings were asked to discuss their views to two questions on the proposals relating to FACS. These are listed below together with an analysis of the main points made in the three public meetings.

Q1	How do we best spend money for competing services – the choice is do we spread the adult community care
	budget more 'thinly' on a broad range of people with needs (who will receive 'less') or do we concentrate/focus
	on those with the most needs (who would receive 'more').

- Do not concentrate to on some people at the expense of others.
- Look at the needs of people and then set the budget to match.
- Instead the council should look to make cuts elsewhere on other budgets or raise more funds so that the proposals are not adopted. The council should seek to increase the central government subsidy received by Harrow.
- More information is required about assessment procedures particularly about reassessments and reviews.

- A withdrawal of services for those with substantial needs would have a detrimental affect on users and carers. This could result in more members of the family requiring services in the long run.
- There was some confusion on the distinction in the criteria applied in judging who has critical rather than substantial needs.
- The question was perceived as being 'loaded' towards the proposals in the consultation.
- There is the need to increase the number of Assessment Officers at the council.

Q2	If we target on those with higher/multiple needs how can we best help those who do not receive a service?
	For example, if there was a budget of say, £250,000 how could we best work with the voluntary/faith/charitable sector to make a difference?

- It was felt that the question is loaded/invidious. It's encouraging people who believe individual needs should be considered.
- The voluntary sector can deliver greater efficiency in some situations rather than direct service provisions.
- Most people thought that the council should not 'pass the buck' to other organisation that have limited funds. Other participants thought that it was a good idea to work with organisations but the council would have to provide free premises and seriously look at the capabilities of other organisations to be able to deliver services.
- Some people thought that faith groups should be excluded as they would not be inclusive for the range of clients in Harrow.
- Some local voluntary groups have had to reduce their services due to lack of funding/council grant cuts.
- Employment services.
- Private sector care homes could be approached to see if they are willing to provide places for day care at a reduced cost to the council.
- Which particular preventative proposals/services do you think that the council and organisations in Harrow should consider developing?
 - It is important if critical only needs are met, so that an early warning system is in place.
 - Advocacy services will particularly help.
 - Exercise classes, but to achieve this access to leisure centres and appropriate transport is required.
 - Healthy eating education.
 - Day centres are a preventative services so access should be retained for all current users.
 - Develop user groups within day centres.
 - Younger adults would benefit from activity centres, work experience and other initiatives away from their home.

Appendix 1 (FACS)

- Independent living opportunities.
- Work opportunities/social enterprise firms/Choices 4 All.
- A 'good neighbour scheme' a formal befriending service.

25

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT QUESTIONNAIRE/CHECKLIST - Proposals to change the criteria to determine who qualifies for social care services (FACS)

Summary statement

Many respondents to the EIA and the consultation thought that the proposals would impact equally on all service users, who would be financially assessed as being liable for a charge, and therefore no one group would be more adversely impacted in comparison to other groups. Other respondents said that it is not possible to know in advance if particular groups would be differentially impacted, as the proposals centre around changes to existing policy.

However, some respondents disagreed and voiced concern that the following groups of people COULD be differentially impacted

- Age
- Race
- Disability
- Carers

This was due mainly to the following four potential factors

- 1. Service users who do not 'recognise' their needs, and in particular that their needs have changed over any given period of time. This includes people with learning disabilities, dementia, mental health and mental illness.
- 2. Service users who cannot 'vocalise' their needs. This includes people with speech and/or hearing difficulties, language issues such as ethnic minority communities as well as asylum seekers.
- 3. Service users who have no one to advocate for them.
- 4. The financial and caring implications for carers and families.

Actions to monitor differential impact if members choose to adopt the proposals:

- 1. Set up a formal monitoring group to determine if any of the potential concerns materialise. The group would consider appropriate measures required to reduce differential impact for any group.
- 2. As set out in the commitment in the consultation paper, all clients will be reassessed to determine eligibility for social care services under the new criteria. This would include an assessment of the levels of risk and a period of one month's notice will be given for any changes.

Directorate	Directorate People First			Section	Communi	Community Care		
1 Name of the function/ policy to assessed	o be	Proposals to change the criteria to determine who qualifies for social care services (FACS)	2 Date of	Assessment	July 2007	3 Is this a new or existing function/policy?	New/proposed policy that has been the subject of a recent user and public consultation	

4 Briefly describe the aims, objectives and purpose of the function/policy

Harrow Council faces financial difficulties caused by low levels of government funding and increasing demands on council services that are currently outstripping resources in some areas. The Council is not looking to reduce the overall amount spent on social care services, but to operate within its available budget. It is, therefore, looking at ways to refocus its limited resources, in order to continue to protect the growing number of people most in need in the community, within the available resources.

The Council currently provides care services to people with social care needs assessed as either critical or substantial. If the proposed change were to go ahead, only needs that fall within the critical criteria would be eligible for care support from the council. The Council would stop paying for any assessed needs at substantial level or below (i.e. moderate and low). The Department of Health FACS Guidance definitions are

Critical – when: life is, or will be, threatened; and/or significant health problems have developed or will develop; and/or there is, or will be, little or no choice and control over vital aspects of the immediate environment; and/or serious abuse or neglect has occurred or will occur; and/or there is, or will be, an inability to carry out vital personal care or domestic routines; and/or vital involvement in work, education or learning cannot or will not be sustained; and/or vital social support systems and relationships cannot or will not be sustained; and/or vital family and other social roles and responsibilities cannot or will not be undertaken.

Substantial – when: there is, or will be, only partial choice and control over the immediate environment; and/or abuse or neglect has occurred or will occur; and/or there is, or will be, an inability to carry out the majority of personal care or domestic routines; and/or involvement in many aspects of work, education or learning cannot or will not be sustained; and/or the majority of social support systems and relationships cannot or will not be sustained; and/or the majority of family and other social roles and responsibilities cannot or will not be undertaken.

5 Are there any associ function/policy? Please	•	Sustainable Communities Plan 2006-2020 National Framework Draft Community Development Strategy Budget Reports		
6 Who is intended to b function/policy and in v		Harrow Council as the proposal will help to ensure it is able to operate within its budget constraints and to refocus limited resources in order to protect those people most in need in the community. The proposals do <u>not</u> intend to deliver a saving to the council.		
7 What outcomes are wanted from this function/policy?		If the proposed change were to go ahead, only needs that fall within the critical criteria would be eligible for social care support from the council.		
8 What factors/forces of from the outcomes?	could contribute/detract	July 2007		rmal decision made at the cabinet meeting on osals would mean that the desired outcome
9 Who are the main stakeholders in relation to the function/policy?	Service Users, Carers, Ha Council, Voluntary Sector of service providers.		10 Who implements the function/policy and who is responsible for the function/policy?	Adult Community Care, People First, Harrow Council.

Over 50 organisations and individuals were asked to submit their views specifically for this EIA. Respondents are listed in section 18.

By analysing the data gained from the consultation process. Consultation packs were sent out to 4135 current, recent and potential service users, 2000 carers, 693 local organisations and the 63 councillors. Free return envelopes were provided for completed feedback sheets. In order to encourage feedback, potential respondents were able to choose from the following methods to express their views.

- By post using a free return envelope (to send back feedback sheets)
- Calling the dedicated telephone consultation line (feedback sheets were filled in by council staff)
- Via email to the dedicated consultation email address
- By taking part in the three public meetings organised by Harrow Council as well as attending the Public Question Time Meeting (attended by 46 people)
- By taking part in the meetings/workshops organised independently and specifically to feedback into the consultations. Three meetings organised by Harrow Mencap (three meetings attended by over 100 people of which 76 were people with learning disabilities and their families and carers), the Harrow Users Group (19 people), Milmans Day Centre service user group (37 service users), The Bridge Service Users Group meeting (37 service users), The Young Carers Project, Harrow MS Society and the Partnership for Older People (POPS) panel, Older Peoples Reference Group and the Harrow Strategic Partnership. Written notes of the meetings/workshops were sent for inclusion within the consultation, and have been contributed to this EIA.

11 What data or other existing evidence have you used to assess whether the function/policy might have a differential impact? (please continue on a separate piece paper if necessary)

12 Has the data or other evidence raised concerns that the function/policy might have a differential impact? If so in what area?	Age Race Disability Carers
13 What are the concerns? (please continue on a separate piece paper)	 Many respondents thought that the proposals would impact equally on all service users currently assessed as having 'substantial' only needs. However, some respondents voiced four main areas of concern: 1. Service users who do not 'recognise' their needs, and in particular that their needs have changed over any given period of time. This includes people with learning disabilities, dementia, mental health and mental illness. 2. Service users who cannot 'vocalise' their needs. This includes people with speech and/or hearing difficulties, language issues such as ethnic minority communities as well as asylum seekers. 3. Service users who have no one to advocate for them. 4. The financial and caring implications for carers and families. The above points have been determined from the range of concerns fed back from respondents. These are listed below, under the headings of section 12. Data snapshots of service users as at 31st March 2007 are also stated (see note 1 below). Clearly, respondents were keen to voice concerns about the assessment process itself, as well as the actual proposals of the consultation. NOTE 1: Electronic recording of social care user data began last year on Framework i. Some user data remains partially complete, hence there is some disparity of totals in the data tables provided. Currently, a separate database, JADE, holds information on service users with mental health needs.

Age

- Some older service users are likely to have settled within their present circumstances and may have difficulty in coping with changes to their long-established routine. It was thought that there may also be fewer 'alternative' services that can be accessed by older people.
- Older people will have more rapidly changing needs and thus there may be greater adverse affect on this group.
- Many older people who do not have family support will not be able to judge or answer questions about their needs under critical or substantial and will need more support.
- Possible increased isolation for older service users who may have fewer alternatives for contact with friends and people other than family members, as well as fewer other opportunities that provide a break from the home environment.
- A 'quicker' rate of deterioration for vulnerable individuals without the support of care services than would otherwise be the case, as care service staff often provide information and support on health issues as part of general social care support.

The breakdown of care service users by age is shown below, excluding users with mental health needs (see Note 2 below):

Age	No. of service users	% of service users
19-45	377	13.3%
46-65	360	12.7%
66-75	526	18.6%
76-85	757	26.7%
85+	815	28.7%
Total	2835	100%

NOTE 2. Unfortunately it was not possible to include a breakdown for some 834 service users with mental health needs as this information is kept in the JADE database. This database does not allow a distinction to be made between those that have received an assessment and people who have been in contact with health professionals only.

Race

- Studies have shown that people from BME communities are amongst the poorest and most excluded groups, finding it more difficult to access services or ask for help. The impact of a reduction of service entitlement, affecting both service users and carers may be more likely to be 'hidden' amongst certain ethnic groups.
- Afro-Caribbean young men are reluctant to engage with services at an early point. This change may exacerbate this difficulty of early intervention with this group.
- Language and understanding the system can be daunting and prohibitive for some BME communities.
- Assessments/reassessments may not take cultural factors and needs into consideration, for example if a mother is not around it
 would not be possible in some cultures for a father to live with and to take care of his daughter's needs. Asian groups tend to live
 in culturally appropriate environments with extended families, if an assessment indicates less need this could cause some
 difficulties and possibly increase isolation.

The breakdown of care service users by ethnicity is shown below, excluding users with mental health needs (see Note 2 above):

Ethnicity	No. of service users	% of service users
White	1818	64.1%
Asian or Asian British	754	26.6%
Black or Black British	106	3.8%
Other Ethnic Groups	55	1.9%
Mixed	16	0.6%
Unknown/not stated	86	3.0%
Total	2835	100.0%

Disability

• Service users with a less severe disability are by the very nature of the FACS assessment less likely to meet critical criteria currently if they are eligible and may have their service(s) withdrawn.

- People with mental health problems/disabilities tend to be more socially isolated than non-disabled people. If they currently receive services and those services are withdrawn or reduced this will increase the level of isolation and social interaction.
- Potential conflict with the DDA 1995. A change in criteria could be seen as limiting access for some people to services.
- People with learning disabilities, dementia and mental incapacity may be disadvantaged if they are not supported in communicating with social care services at the point at which their needs may have changed significantly.
- Additional financial pressures to pay for other items or additional costs related to their disability not encountered by non-disabled people.

The breakdown of care service users by service user group is shown below. This **includes** approximately 800 mental health service users on the JADE database.

Service user Group	No. of service users	% of service users
Physical disability, frailty and sensory impairment	2379	67.3%
(including older people)		
Mental Health (JADE & Frameworki databases)	834	23.5%
Learning Disability	313	8.9%
Other vulnerable People	9	0.3%
Total	3535	100.0%

See Note 1 above in section 13.

Carers

The proposals are more likely to affect service users who live at home with their carers/families than those living alone in their own homes, who are more likely to be at greater risk. Thus the following points are more likely to be applicable to the former set of carers/families.

- Carers may not be able to support the cared for person to access community resources/alternative services.
- Financially carers will have less money for other family expenditure if they decide to make alternative service arrangements.

- Some carers may have to make changes at home, possibly giving up work, education and leisure, which would need consideration in light of the 2004 Equal Opportunities Act for Carers. This would be applicable to carers eligible for social care services. Anxieties that carers may also no longer be eligible for respite care.
- If the proposals are introduced current 'substantial' service users may become more dependent on their carers for support and social stimulation. This may lead to an increased health and social pressures on carers due to an increased caring function.

14 Does the differential impact amount to adverse impact i.e. could it be discriminatory, directly or indirectly?	Potentially YES but it is not possible to fully determine if the concerns will materialise	15 If yes, can the adverse impact be justified on the grounds of promoting equality of opportunity for one group? Or any other reason?	NO		
16 Have you considered ways in which the adverse impact might be reduced or eliminated?	The EIA has revealed potential concerns of differential impact for the groups listed in section 12. Councillors are yet to decide if any of the proposals are to be implemented. See also the main report section 2.4 'options for consideration' – bullet points. However, if the proposals are implemented, a formal monitoring group should be set up to determine if any of the concerns listed under section 13 materialise/exist, in the event and extent of any decision to change the criteria. This group should also consider appropriate measures to reduce differential impact for any groups, as noted under the improvement plan at the end of this document.				
17 How have you made sure you have consulted with the relevant groups and service users from Ethnic Minorities? Disabled people? Men and women generally?	Yes, please see sec	s, please see section 11 for details and the list of specific EIA respondents in section 18.			

18. Please give details of the relevant

service users, groups and experts

on the issues

you are approaching for their views

Specific responses for the request for information for the EIA were received from:

- Age Concern
- Bentley Resource Centre
- Brember Day Centre
- Bridge*
- Carers Support Group
- Central & North West London Mental Heath Trust
- Harrow Association of the Disabled staff and service users*
- Harrow Association of Voluntary Organisations
- Harrow Council Staff
- Harrow Rethink Support Group *
- Harrow User Group*
- Mencap (3 meetings)*
- Mind in Harrow
- Milmans staff and service users*
- Tanglewood (people with learning disabilities and carers)*
- Wiseworks*
- Young Carers Project*

Feedback to specific questions were also obtained from the 97 people who attended the public consultation meetings, of whom 20 were deemed to be from a visible ethnic minority background. Participants in each public meeting identified themselves as a mix of service users (38%), carers (49%) and voluntary organisation representatives (12%) and a GP (1%).

^{*} Denotes that a response was sent feeding back the thoughts of a specific user group session/meeting

TIARROW GOONGIL				
19 How will the views of these groups be obtained? (Please tick)	Letter Meetings Interviews Telephone Workshops Fora Questionna Other: Email	S	20 Please give the date when each group/expert was contacted.	Throughout the consultation/EIA period – 2 April 2007 to 29 June 2007.
21 Please explain in detail the views of the relevant groups/experts on the issues involved. (Please use a separate sheet if necessary)		Covered in detail u	ınder section 13.	
22 Taking into account the views of the groups/experts, please clearly state what changes if any you will make, including the ways in which you will make the function/policy accessible to all service users, or if not able to do so, the areas and level of risk (Please continue on a separate sheet if necessary)		the main report sec However, if the pro to determine if any also consider appro	ction 2.4 'options for consider oposals are implemented, a for of the concerns listed under	ormal monitoring group should be set up section 13 materialise. The group should lifferential impact for any groups, as
23 Please describe how you intend to reffect this function/policy has on differe groups (Please continue on a separate necessary)	nt minority	See 22 above.		

24 If any elements of your function/policy are provided by third parties please state, what arrangements you have in place to ensure that to ensure that the Council's equal opportunities criteria are met	Not applicable.		
25 Please list any performance targets relating to equality that your function/policy includes, and any plans for new targets (Please continue on a separate sheet if necessary)	Not applicable		
26 How will you publish the results of this Impact assessment?	Via the Harrow website, with printed copies sent to people on request. All councillors will receive a copy of this report prior to the Cabinet meeting in July.	27 Date of next assessment	On-going from the start of introduction, if the proposals are adopted.

Please list actions you intend to take as a result of this assessment. Attach additional sheets if necessary.

IMPROVEMENT PLAN

The following applies only if any proposals are implemented.

ISSUE IDENTIFIED	ACTION REQUIRED	LEAD OFFICER	TIMESCALE	COMMENTS
Potential concerns in section 13	To set up a formal monitoring group, that will report back to the Director of Adult Services and Cabinet, if potential concerns have materialised. The actions required to mitigate any differential impact should be considered in detail with timescales for implementation.	Mark Gillett	To begin monitoring from the date of implementation of any proposals. A formal cabinet report should be produced outlining the main findings 6 months from the implementation date with appropriate recommendations for reducing or eliminating differential impact, if any. A report from the monitoring group should be considered in a cabinet meeting and made public via the Harrow Website.	The monitoring group will gather the views of service users and key stakeholder organisations. Focus groups may be appropriate as well as the collation of case studies. Recommendations for reducing or eliminating differential impact, if any, should include timescales.

Signed: Date: July 16 2007

NAME: Peter Singh, Service Manager Research and Strategic Planning, Completing officer

Signed: Date: July 16 2007

NAME: Mark Gillett, Group Manager +, Lead Officer

What the proposal would mean

Department of Health definition:

CRITICAL:

- Life is, or will be threatened; and/or
- Significant health problems have developed or will develop, and/or
- Serious abuse or neglect has occurred or will occur

Carer – their life is, or will be, threatened.

Carer – Major health problems have developed or will develop.

These are some examples of what this might mean

- Help will prevent serious health problems, or avoid a serious existing condition deteriorating (including users and carers mental health).
- Users and/or carers have a severe mental illness, which places them and/or others at significant risk of harm.
- Users and/or carers have a life threatening substance misuse problem, which requires urgent treatment or a rehabilitation programme.
- Users and/or carers are unable to recognise that things they do in or around their home place them or others at significant risk of harm, for example, leaving the gas on, wandering in the night.
- Users and/or carers must be protected from abuse that might include: violence or the threat of violence: degrading treatment; sexual abuse; emotional abuse; financial abuse or exploitation.
- All users must be protected from serious avoidable deterioration in their health and well being as a result of neglect, that is the failure to take the necessary actions either for themselves or because others are not helping them.
- Users and/or carers are experiencing, or expect to experience a significant deterioration or loss of sight or hearing.
- Users and/or carers need support with taking essential medication (a health care responsibility but may be provided as part of an overall support arrangement).

Department of Health definition:

CRITICAL:

 There is, or will be, little or no control over the vital aspects of the immediate environment

Carer – there, is or will be, an extensive loss of autonomy for the carer in decisions about the nature of tasks they will perform and how much time they will give to their caring role.

These are some examples of what this might mean

- Help is required to avoid admission to the hospital or to avoid a delay in being discharged from hospital.
- Help is required to avoid an admission to a residential or nursing home placement.
- Users and/or carers have seriously impaired short-term memory and without assistance and care throughout a 24 hour period would be at extreme risk.
- Due to users and/or carers physical or mental health problems or disability they need help with their care at many times throughout the day or night.
- Users and/or carers are unable, or able only with equipment or assistance, to get in and out of bed, their chair or wheelchair or to use the toilet.
- Without help users would be unable to change position often enough to avoid harm to their health eg pressure areas.
- Users and/or carers are unable to request help to make their needs known.
- Users and/or carers might not recognise risks to themselves arising from their physical or mental health problems, and/or cannot recognise risks in their environment to their personal safety.
- Users and/or carers home is unsafe for them and they are at serious risk of injury eg risk of falling on the stairs or steps.
- The carer has no choice over the tasks they perform in their caring role or how much time they devote to the caring role.

Department of Health definition:

CRITICAL:

 There is, or will be, an inability to carry out vital personal care or domestic routines

Carer - There is, or will be, an inability to look after their own domestic needs and other daily routines while sustaining their caring role.

These are some examples of what this might mean

Users are unable * to carry out the following activities of daily living and have no other help available to them:

- Getting washed all over often enough to avoid harm to their health. The minimum would be once a week.
- Washing your face and hands each day.
- Getting dressed.
- Getting into and out of bed each day.
- Using the toilet.
- Getting in and out of their chair / wheelchair.
- Getting a meal.
- Eating and drinking adequately for their health.
- Keeping the place where they live sufficiently clean and well maintained to avoid serious risk of harm to their health eg. aggravation of a respiratory problem or deterioration in their mental health.
- Without constant reminders and prompting from others, users might not complete these vital personal care tasks.
- The carer is, or will in the foreseeable future, be unable to manage vital aspects of their own domestic needs and daily routines due to their caring role and require social care support.

"Users are unable" means it is so hard for users to do that it is dangerous and/or users find it extremely difficult and/or it takes substantial amounts of time and/or leaves users extremely tired.

Appendix 3 (FACS)

Department of Health definition:

CRITICAL:

- Vital involvement in work, education or learning, cannot, or will not, be sustained, and/or
- Vital social support systems and relationships cannot, or will not, be sustained, and/or
- Vital family and other social roles and responsibilities cannot or will not, be undertaken

Carer – many significant social support systems and relationships are, or will be, at risk.

Carer – involvement in employment or other responsibilities is, or will be, at risk.

These are some examples of what this might mean

- Users have a severe and enduring mental health problem (e.g. are under Section 117) or significant disability and without help users are at serious risk of losing their employment, education or social support networks.
- Users have a severe and enduring mental health problem or significant disability and without help in the form of advice, preparation, counselling and job coaching, they will be unable to take advantage of opportunities for appropriate work.
- Users are unable * without help (and it is unavailable to them) to care for their adult dependants, without which support they will have significant health or social care needs.
- Users children are taking on inappropriate responsibility for providing care for them.
- Users are experiencing extreme isolation and have no immediate social networks like neighbours or family.



Meeting: Cabinet

Date: 25 July 2007

Subject: Outcome of Spring 2007 statutory consultations

on Community Care Services - Day Centre

Charging

Key Decision: Yes

(Executive-side only)

Responsible Officer: Penny Furness-Smith,

Corporate Director of Adults and Housing

Services

Portfolio Holder: Cllr Silver – Adult Community Care Services and

Issues Facing People with Special Needs

Exempt: No

Enclosures: Appendix 1 – Consultation – Analysis of

Responses

Appendix 2 – Equality Impact Assessment

1 SECTION 1 – SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Summary

This report sets out the public response to the statutory consultations on the proposal to start charging for attendance at day centres. It also sets out options for Cabinet to consider in response to the consultation exercise.

Recommendations

Cabinet is requested to:

- 1. Determine whether to introduce a charge for attendance at day centres and:
- 2. If so, to agree the level of charge to be applied and;
- 3. To review these charges as part of the annual review of the Council's fees and charges.

Reason

Cabinet agreed at its meeting of 14 December 2006 that a consultation should be undertaken on the proposal to start charging for attendance at day centres. The consultation has now concluded and Cabinet need to make a

decision about whether to introduce a charge for attendance at day centres, and if so at what level this should be set. This proposal, with a budget saving of £200,000 for 2007/08, was contained in the budget passed at Council on 22 February 2007.

2 SECTION 2 - REPORT

2.1 Background

At its meeting on 14 December 2006 Cabinet considered the report of the Director of Financial and Business Strategy on the Revenue Budget 2007-08 to 2009-10.

It was resolved that: "In addition to the general consultation with stakeholders, officers be instructed to commence specific consultation on the following proposals, as detailed in the report of the Director of Financial and Business Strategy

- Access to Care Eligibility Criteria
- Day Care Charging"

At its meeting on 15 March 2007, Cabinet considered a report which set out details of the formative process, which had engaged key stakeholders and asked members to confirm the options on which they wished to consult.

Harrow Council has not previously charged for this service, but the consultation document set out four options:

- Keep nil charge as now
- Introduce a charge of £6 per day (£3 per half day)
- Introduce a charge of £12 per day (£6 per half day)
- Introduce a charge of £20 per day (£10 per half day)

Cabinet are receiving a separate report on the outcome of the consultation on the proposed change to the eligibility criteria, under Fair Access to Care Services. It should be noted that if Cabinet agree to proceed with that proposal, then some service users who currently attend a day centre may no longer be eligible to attend where this is meeting an eligible need assessed as substantial. This could reduce the number of people liable to a charge.

2.2 Consultation

The public consultation followed good practice set out in the Harrow Compact and the Cabinet Office Code of Practice on Consultation. The Cabinet Code of Practice on Consultation suggests that it is good practice to undertake informal consultation with stakeholders, to allow their engagement while proposals are still at the formative stage. It is felt that this more informed consultation exercise ensures that stakeholders are engaged early, and have a better understanding of the proposals.

42 key stakeholders were identified and invited to a pre-consultation event held on 12 February. A total of 27 individuals representing 17 organisations

attended the event. The views of this group helped to inform the consultation document and process. The views of these stakeholders were reported to Cabinet at its meeting on 15 March.

The consultation period lasted 13 weeks and ran from 2 April 2007 to 25 June 2007. The consultation comprised the following:

- A consultation document (also available as an easy read version, audio tape and in community languages) which was sent to
 - o 814 service users
 - o 2000 carers
 - 425 organisations (including voluntary, community and faith groups, GPs, Health and other partners, schools and contracted providers)
 - o 63 Councillors
- The Harrow Council website was used to advertise the consultation with links to the PDF documents of the proposal, feedback sheets, case studies, frequently asked questions, FACS – an outline impact assessment, as well as copies of the adverts, posters and information about the public meetings.
- Three public meetings held on 17 May, 22 May and 11 June 2007. The Public Question Time held on 21 May also provided an opportunity for public questions on the consultation.
- Officers and Members also attended meetings and events organised by partners. These included Older People's Reference Group, Harrow User Group, Panel for Older People and three Harrow MENCAP meetings.
- The January and May 2007 editions of Harrow People carried information about the consultation. The public meetings were advertised in the Harrow Times, the Harrow Observer and the Harrow Leader.
- Posters were placed in all Harrow libraries, and on council and community notice boards, as well as in the civic centre and other People First sites. Copies were also sent to GP surgeries and directly to local organisations to place on their notice boards. Subsequent posters also provided information about the public meetings. Information was also circulated to voluntary and community groups for inclusion in any newsletters or mailings that they were producing during the consultation period.
- In order to encourage feedback, potential respondents were able to choose from the following methods to express their views.
 - By post using a free business reply envelope (to send back feedback sheets).
 - Calling the dedicated telephone consultation line (feedback sheets were filled in by council staff)
 - o Via fax
 - Via email to the dedicated consultation email address
 - By taking part in the four public meetings

2.3 Key Messages from the Consultation

A total of 236 individual responses were received (feedback sheet, written response, telephone or email). In addition some 97 people attended the 3 specific public meetings, and 46 attended the Public Question Time.

An analysis of the response to the consultation is set out at Appendix 1. A copy of the individual responses, suitably anonymised has been made available in the Members' Library.

85.2% of respondents were opposed to the introduction of charges, with 13.5% (31 individuals) opting for the proposal to introduce a charge of £6 per day. One respondent supported the introduction of a charge of £12, with two supporting a charge of £20.

The key messages to emerge from the consultation are:

- a. The Council is targeting the most vulnerable members of the community 'Critical' covers the most vulnerable people and these will continue to receive council funded services.
- b. The proposals will lead to increased costs to the NHS and Council in the long term, as the needs of service users affected will increase the proposed change relates to social care needs and does not affect services paid for or provided by the NHS. The report on the proposed change to the eligibility criteria under Fair Access to Care Services sets out proposals to address these concerns.
- c. The Council should reduce costs in other ways, e.g. by reducing high salaries or cutting staff number a total of £19m has been saved during 2006/07 across all areas of the council.
- d. The Council should make attempts to raise revenue and increase the level of central government grant - Harrow has been and continues to lobby Government for extra resources, and for 2007/08 set a Council tax just below the maximum allowed before capping.
- e. Community Care budgets should be increased to avoid an implementation of the proposals at the expense of other Council budgets the Council's current financial position precludes this.
- f. The proposal will increase the burden of care for carers, some of whom may need to stop working Carers are entitled to a carers' assessment in their own right.
- g. The proposal to charge will bring an end to the benefits of day care such as social interaction for service users and respite for carers A charge would be subject to a financial assessment. See also point (f) above. We are proposing to build stronger relationships and capacity within the voluntary sector to develop support for individuals who reduce or withdraw their day centre attendance following any charge and for new referrals who are unwilling to pay. Service users could be signposted to other services.
- h. Charging will be an extra burden as other costs have increases recently in other care costs, meals, utility bills etc. At the same time increases in benefits have been minimal a charge for day centre attendance would be subject to a financial assessment. As part of this process we also look at whether people are claiming all the benefits to which they may be entitled. For those individuals who attend day centres and receive a home care service this means that only those service users who have been assessed to pay the

maximum assessed weekly cost or currently pay the full cost would be charged to attend day centres.

2.4 Responding to the consultation – options for consideration

The consultation document proposes that a charge for attendance at day centres would only be introduced for those who are assessed as having the means to pay. For those individuals who attend day centres and receive a home care service, this means that only those service users who have been assessed to pay the maximum assessed weekly cost, or currently pay the full cost, would be charged to attend day centres. It is estimated that 30% of day centre users would fall into this category – i.e. 70% of day centre users would not be charged. Day centre users who do not receive a home care service will require a financial assessment to determine whether they would be liable to pay a charge.

If Cabinet agree to proceed with the proposal to set the eligibility criteria under Fair Access to Care Services as 'Critical', then some service users who currently attend a day centre, may no longer be eligible to attend where this is meeting an eligible need assessed as substantial.

Harrow is not alone in reviewing its position on charging for attendance at day centres. A telephone survey of the current position in 32 London Boroughs (excluding Harrow) is shown below.

Charge	Number of authorities	Number of authorities
	Autumn 2006	July 2007
Nil	14	6
Under Review	-	4
Less than £10	8	8
£10 to £20	-	1
£20 to £30	4	6
£30 to £50	3	5
Not known	3	2

An analysis of the charges levied by other London Boroughs, shows that over one third are now charging £20 or more per day for attendance at day centres. There has been a significant shift since the Autumn, when almost half of London Boroughs were not charging for attendance at day centres – now, less than one fifth of Boroughs do not charge, and 4 are in the process of reviewing their policy.

The proposed charges of £6, £12 or £20 would place Harrow in the median band of charging authorities. Each of the charges cited would still require a significant subsidy from the Council, towards the operating costs of the day centres as shown below.

Day Centre	Unit Cost	Subsidy @ £6 per day	Subsidy @ £12 per day	Subsidy @ £20 per day
Milmans	£39.30	84.7%	69.4%	49.1%
Bentley	£58.70	89.7%	79.5%	65.9%
Brember	£62.90	90.5%	80.9%	68.2%
Average	£53.63	88.8%	77.6%	62.7%

2.5 Resources, costs and risks associated with the proposals

Context

There is a history of severe spending pressure in community care, and this has been evidenced by substantial overspends in the last 3 years. The actual outturn for 2006-07 was an overspend of £1.5m, as forecast earlier in the year. This spending pressure reflects growing demand and increasing complexity of need, and has been compounded by a combination of cost shunting and withdrawal from jointly funded services on the part of the PCT. It is estimated that the actions of the PCT have added a total of £3.5m a year to Council costs. Some of these issues are formally in dispute. The level of debt owed by the PCT to the Council at 31 March 2007 totalled £3.4m of which £1.7m represented disputed debts going back to 2004-05 and 2005-06.

The community care budget has been subject to considerable management action over the last few years to try and contain spending and the Council has taken a series of steps to try and contain demand, achieve good value for money on individual packages, and reduce subsidies in some areas.

These measures have not been taken in isolation but have rather been part of significant savings packages across all Council services, designed to ensure that the Council lives within its means. This is particularly important as the Council had reserves of only £1.3m at the end of 2006-07. The Council's policy is to add £1m to reserves and provisions each year from 2007-08 until such time as general balances exceed £5m.

It should also be noted that, whilst growth of £3.9m was added to the community care budget for 2007-08, this was accompanied by a package of savings of £3.7m, and the budget was set before the final outturn position for 2006-07, which revealed additional pressure in this area, was known. Therefore, in overall terms the community care budget has not kept pace with demand.

Current Proposals

The Council has carried out consultation in relation to the Fair Access to Care Criteria and Day Care Charging in the last few months. The decision to go to consultation on these policy areas was taken in December 2006 and the formal consultation commenced in March and lasted for 12 weeks.

The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) agreed in February assumed an income from Day Care Charging of £200k in 2007-08 and £300k in a full year. The MTFS also included an annual saving of £500k arising from the proposed change to the Fair Access to Care Criteria. However, recognising the need to carry out formal consultation and have regard to the outcome of the consultation, the budget also included a risk of £500k across both these areas. This was intended to give some flexibility in relation to the decisions that would be required.

Day Care Charging

The income budget was based on a flat charge of £5 for all day centre users, which would not be subject to a financial assessment.

The consultation proposed that the introduction of a charge for attendance should be subject to a financial assessment. The implication of this, as described in the report, is that only an estimated 30% of day centres users would be subject to a charge. It has also been assumed that this number will be further reduced if the decision is taken to proceed with the proposed change to the eligibility criteria under Fair Access to Care Services. The net effect of this is shown in the table below:

Financial Impact of Day Care Charging Proposals

	Net income @ £6 per day	Net income @ £12 per day	Net income @ £20 per day
2007-08 Impact*			
Income from	£44k	£89k	£148k
charges			
Target	£200k	£200k	£200k
Shortfall	£156k	£111k	£52k
Full year impact			
Income from	£76k	£152k	£254k
charges			
Target	£300k	£300k	£300k
Shortfall	£224k	£148k	£46k

^{*}Assumes implementation with effect from 1 September 2007

Whichever option is selected, it is clear that the income will fall short of the target in the current year and a full year.

Managing the 2007-08 Budget

As outlined above the options in relation to Day Care Charging all fall short of the income target. In addition, there will be considerable pressure on the community care budget, even if the FACS eligibility criteria are changed. Therefore it will be necessary to apply to £500k risk that was identified in the MTFS in full to the community care budget in 2007-08 and beyond to deal

with the pressures identified. The Adults and Housing budget will be very closely monitored during 2007-08 and steps taken to contain the pressures as far as possible.

If a decision is made not to proceed on the basis of the FACS proposal set out in the consultation document the budget pressure could only be contained by identifying compensating savings from other council services.

Planning for 2008-09 to 2010-11

The Council is commencing the work to develop its new medium term financial strategy. The decisions taken in relation to Day Care Charging and FACS will have to be taken into account in this process. It should be noted that if the proposal to change the criteria under FACS is not adopted, there will be a significant increase in the funding gap in future years.

2.6 Staffing/workforce considerations

None associated with this report.

2.7 Equalities Impact

An Equalities Impact Assessment has been undertaken alongside the consultation process. This is attached as Appendix 2. The key themes to emerge from this are:

- Many respondents to the Equalities Impact Assessment and the consultation thought that the proposals would impact equally on all service users who would be financially assessed as being liable for a charge, and therefore no one group would be adversely impacted.
- However, some respondents disagreed and voiced concern that the following groups could be differentially impacted
 - o Age
 - o Race
 - Disability
 - o Carers

in respect of the following factors

- Day Centres are an important link to other health and social care services for many service users, and the introduction of charges may 'weaken' this link for those who are assessed to pay
- Financially, families may have less money available for other family expenditure, if they pay towards for a day centre placement.

The Equalities Impact Assessment proposes the following actions to mitigate the potential risk of any differential impact:

• The establishment of a formal monitoring group to determine if any of the potential concerns materialise. The group would consider

appropriate measures required to reduce differential impact for any group.

2.8 Key Performance Indicators

The Key Performance Indicators C29 – 32 (Helped to Live at Home) may be impacted by this decision. The numbers eligible to receive a service are likely to reduce if Cabinet decides to proceed with the proposal to meet only needs that fall within the 'Critical' FACS band.

2.9 Section 17 and Crime and Disorder Act 1998 Considerations

This report deals throughout with the needs of a group of adults who are amongst the most vulnerable and at risk in Harrow.

3 SECTION 3 - STATUTORY OFFICER CLEARANCE

Name: Myfanwy Barrett	✓	Chief Financial Officer
Date: 17 July 2007		
Name: Hugh Peart	\checkmark	Monitoring Officer
Date: 17 July 2007		

4 SECTION 4 - CONTACT DETAILS AND BACKGROUND PAPERS

Contact:

Mark Gillett

Head of Service – Commissioning and Partnerships

mark.gillett@harrow.gov.uk

020 8424 1911

Background Papers:

Harrow Code of Practice on Consultation

Cabinet Office (Better Regulation Executive) – Code of Practice on Consultation

IF APPROPRIATE, DOES THE REPORT INCLUDE THE FOLLOWING CONSIDERATIONS?

1.	Consultation	YES
2.	Corporate Priorities	YES

^{*}Delete the words "on behalf of the" if the report is cleared directly by Myfanwy or Hugh.

Manifesto Pledge Reference Number

Consultation – Analysis of Responses for the Day Care Consultation

1. Summary

The majority of respondents opposed the proposal and the main concerns were:

- a. The Council is targeting the most vulnerable members of the community
- b. The proposals will lead to increased costs to the NHS and Council in the long term, as the needs of service users affected will increase
- c. The Council should reduce costs in other ways, e.g. by reducing high salaries or cutting staff number
- d. The Council should make attempts to raise revenue and increase the level of central government grant
- e. Community Care budgets should be increased to avoid an implementation of the proposals at the expense of other Council budgets
- f. This proposal will increase the burden of care for carers, some of whom may need to stop working
- g. This proposal will bring an end to the benefits of day care such as social interaction for service users and respite for carers
- h. This proposal will be an extra burden as other costs have increased recently in other care costs, meals, utility bills etc. At the same time increases in benefits have been minimal

2. Methodology

Once the proposals were drawn up potential respondents were made aware the consultation was taking place by the following.

- Press adverts were placed in the Harrow People council magazine (January and May 2007), Harrow Times, Harrow Leader and the Harrow Observer, announcing that the consultation was taking place and subsequent adverts also provided information about the public meetings.
- A number of posters were placed in all Harrow libraries, and on council community notice boards, as well as in the civic centre & all people first sites Copies were also sent to GP surgeries and directly to local organisations to place on their notice boards. Subsequent posters also provided information about the public meetings. Local organisations were also sent information and a request made for them to include this information in any relevant documents being produced for dissemination.

- The Harrow Council website was used to advertise the consultation with links to the PDF documents of each proposal, as well as copies of the adverts, posters and information about the public meetings. There were 191 'hits' on the Spring 2007 public consultations homepage for FACS and Day Centre charging.
- Consultation packs were sent out to 814 current, recent users or potential service users, 2000 carers, 425 local organisations and the 63 councillors. Free business reply envelopes were provided for completed feedback sheets. Council staff also attended a number of specific user group meetings arranged by local organisations to encourage feedback and to answer questions about the consultation. Audio tapes were also available for people who required an audio copy of the document.

The service users were made up of:

Service Area	No. of Service Users
Day Centre (database of current and recent users)	447
Mental Health service users	350
Direct Payment users	17
TOTAL	814

In addition some 2,000 carers were sent a consultation pack in partnership with Carers Support Harrow.

Carers	Number
Carers	2000

The local organisations were made up of:

Organisations	Number
Community, voluntary and faith groups	256
Schools	69
GP surgeries	39
People First sites	31
Mental Health Partnership	19
Harrow Libraries	11
TOTAL	425

In order to encourage feedback, potential respondents were able to choose from the following methods to express their views:

- By post using a free return envelope (to send back feedback sheets)
- Calling the dedicated telephone consultation line (feedback sheets were filled in by council staff)
- Via email to the dedicated consultation email address
- By taking part in the three public meetings organised by Harrow Council as well as attending the Public Question Time Meeting (attended by 46 people)
- By taking part in the meetings/workshops organised independently and specifically to feedback into the consultations. Three meetings organised by Harrow Mencap (three meetings attended by over 100 people of which 76 were people with learning disabilities and their families and carers), the Harrow Users Group (19 people), Milmans Day Centre service user group (37 service users), The Bridge Service Users Group meeting (37 service users), The Young Carers Project, Harrow MS Society and the Partnership for Older People (POPS) panel, Older People's Reference Group and Harrow Strategic Partnership.

Participant response - numbers

A total of 236 individual responses were received (feedback sheet, written response, telephone or email), as shown in the following table.

Respondent	No.	%
Service users	134	56.8%
Carers	81	34.3%
Organisations	15	6.4%
Other e.g. councillor, member of public	6	2.5%
Total No. of responses received	236	100%

Some 97 people attended the 3 specific public meetings, of whom 20 were deemed to be from a visible ethnic minority background. Participants in each public meeting identified themselves as a mix of service users (38%), carers (49%) and voluntary organisation representatives (12%) and a GP (1%).

The following table provides a breakdown of respondents, who stated their ethnic origin when responding by completing a feedback sheet, or who gave these details when calling the consultation telephone line.

Ethnic origin of respondents (as stated on feedback sheets)	Day C	entre
	No.	%
Asian or Asian British Bangladeshi	4	1.9%
Asian or Asian British Indian	69	32.7%
Asian or Asian British Pakistani	5	2.3%
Asian or Asian British Other	7	3.3%
Black or Black British African	4	2.2%
Black or Black British Caribbean	1	0.4%
Black or Black British Other	3	1.4%
Chinese	1	0.5%
Mixed White and Black African	0	
Mixed White and Black Asian	0	
Mixed White and Black Caribbean	1	0.4%
Mixed Other	1	0.4%
White British	97	46.0%
White Irish	11	5.2%
White Other	7	3.3%
Total	211	100.0%

3. Consultation analysis of proposals to start charging for attendance at day centres

Written, telephone or email responses to the consultation document and meetings/workshops organised independently

The following is an analysis of the response to the feedback sheets contained in the consultation document. Additionally comments received from the meetings/workshops organised independently have been incorporated as comments in the tables that contain a 'comment' column.

The table below sets out the level of support for the four different proposals set out in the consultation document.

Proposal	No.	%
Option one: Keep nil charge as now	196	85.2%
Option two: Introduce a charge of £6 per day (£3 per half day)	31	13.5%
Option three: Introduce a charge of £12 per day (£6 per half day)	1	0.4%
Option four: Introduce a charge of £20 per day (£10 per half day)	2	0.9%
Total	230	100%

Respondents were also asked how strongly they feel about the proposals in the consultation document, there were 221 replies.

Respondents	Not st	rongly	A li	ttle	Don't	mind	Stro	ngly	Very st	rongly
views about the proposals	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%
Response	8	3.6%	7	3.1%	13	5.8%	46	20.8%	147	66.5%

A. Respondents were asked how the proposals would affect their life and gave the replies listed under the column 'comment'.

No.	Comment	Response
A 1	It would take away one of the few opportunities for me/the person I care for to enjoy some interaction with other people, meet friends to take a break from the home environment. Giving up a day centre place due to the cost, altogether would result in isolation and depression.	
A 2	Going to the day centre has changed the life of service users and carers. Charges would be a major step backwards.	This is noted and reflected in the equalities impact assessment, which will be sent to members for the July cabinet meeting.
A 3	It is a false economy, as service users may need other medical services and may have to go into residential care if day services are no longer affordable.	No charge is proposed for people who go to a day centre site only to access a NHS service.
A 4	I object in principle to elderly people who have paid their dues during their working life being neglected for want of funds.	See A1 above. Councils must follow national government rules when deciding which services they can charge for and which part of people's income they can take into account in a financial assessment. Harrow has an excellent, four star Income Benefits and Assessments service to provide this financial assessment and help to ensure people are claiming the benefits to which they are entitled.
A 5	We are continually being penalised because my mother saved all her life.	Noted.
A 6	How are charges going to be implemented? Are they going to be means tested? Will there be any changes to the service?	Yes any charges introduced will take into account people's financial position i.e. "means tested" and any other charges they are paying e.g. home care. The actual service people are offered would not change just as a result of charges being introduced. If a charge is introduced the council will develop guidelines

		about exceptions to the charges, and not attendance at times of illness. If someone's absence or non-attendance becomes regular then their place would be reviewed, as it may no longer be meeting their needs.
A 7	The proposed costs come on top of other additional costs such as paying for meals on wheels, increases in other care charges, utility bills, travel etc. At the same time the increase in benefits have been minimal.	See A1, A4 and A6 above. The government decides the level of the state pension, not the council.
A 8	For those that are prepared to pay, it will mean that there is less money to spend on everyday Items such as food, gas and electricity. It would also mean some people will not go out to enjoy other activities such as the cinema.	
A 9	The extra burden of caring will fall on family/carers who are already struggling to cope. Carer and family poverty will increase as a result.	Carers will continue to be able to request an assessment of their needs. This point is also noted in the equalities impact assessment report.
A 10	The cost should not prevent vulnerable people from using the services.	All the people who receive social care services from the council are vulnerable to some extent. Any charge would be subject to a financial assessment, see A6 above.
A 11	It is a lifeline for carers, when the person being cared for attends the day centre, carers are able to take a break and ensure other tasks are completed.	This is noted and will be reflected in the equalities impact assessment.
A 12	The lack of respite care opportunities makes it even more important to provide affordable/free day care.	Noted.

B. Respondents were asked to suggest alternatives for councillors to consider on closing the funding gap, and gave the replies listed under the column 'comment'.

No.	Comment	Response
B1	Why choose Adult Community Care Services to close the gap? Choose other services where the most needy won't suffer.	The council has reviewed services across the whole council, not just in social care. In 2006/2007 the council made £19 million savings across the authority. The council is not looking to reduce the overall amount we spend on social care services £72 million in 2006/7 or 13.6% of the council's annual budget.
B2	Increase Council Tax and cut central administration costs and make economies in the civic centre and other council buildings.	The council's finances have been examined thoroughly and where it was found that services were costing us more to deliver than neighbouring councils we have taken measures to make efficiency savings. However the people of Harrow already pay a large amount of council tax. In 2007/8 the council already raised council tax by just under 5%. If they raised it by 5% or above then the central government has the power to 'cap' Harrow.
ВЗ	Apply to the Government to bridge the gap/make a stronger case for funding for Harrow.	Harrow lobbied the government for extra resources, nil additional funds have been secured to date.
B4	Implement a policy of people only being allowed to attend a day centre once a week.	The number of days offered relate to assessed needs. People will continue to be able to choose to attend fewer less days at a day centre if they wish to do so.
B5	Cut the hours that current service users are offered when they attend day centres.	A large portion of day centre costs are fixed, however many hours are provided. Reducing the hours of opening would not reduce the costs very much. Harrow's day centre placement costs range from £41 to £86, depending on the level of care needed per placement.
B6	Stop introducing blue bins and avoid unnecessary expense such as cycle-networks,	Noted. The council is considering a number of ways to reduce costs. See B1 and B2 above.

	bus lanes and repairing the roads all the time.	
B7	Increase car park charges in Harrow.	Noted. The council is considering a number of ways to increase its revenue. See B1 and B2 above.
B8	Try to get help from business leaders.	Noted.
	Merge some of the centres to save duplication of equipment, staff and resources.	Noted, but this proposal will not be considered as part of this particular proposal.
B10	Balance the council budget better.	The councillors are committed to getting the council on a sound financial footing, and are working to achieve this.

C. Respondents were given the opportunity to list any other comments that they had, the majority were similar to the points listed above but the following additional comments.

No.	Comment	Response
	It seems people are paying more taxes and getting fewer and fewer services.	Noted.
	The day centres do a wonderful job and have been a lifeline for many people.	Noted.
	Why is it hard for the government to see deprivation in Harrow?	See B3 above.
	Why is it that cuts are being made to the most vulnerable in our society, who are probably most grateful for the services provided?	See B1 and B2 above.

D. Analysis of the public meetings

The participants at the public meetings were asked to discuss their views to two questions on the proposals relating to day centre charging. These are listed below together with an analysis of the main points made in the three public meetings.

Q 1 People have fed back that they or the person they care for are not receiving enough time/sessions, how do we best modify the level of subsidy that the council devotes to day centres – i.e. should the charges remain low/neutral or should higher increases be introduced to improve the amount of day centre sessions that can be offered to clients?

- Many people were unhappy with the premise of the question and felt that all needs should be met (we don't charge the illiterate to go to libraries or the sick to go to hospital).
- It is unfair to charge people on low incomes/some people thought that clients should be means tested.
- Look instead to reduce costs at day centres/raise money elsewhere.
- If charges are levied, the lowest possible charge should be applied.
- Ensure that clients outside of the Harrow Borough do not receive day centre placements.
- If the quality of service is improved charges may be justified.
- There should be equality in charges across all services why introduce charging for day centres and not all services?.

Q2 Given the discussion that has just taken place, if charges were introduced at what level do you think charges should be set & why?

- Charges should not be applied day centre attendance is not a choice, it is fundamental to the lives of users and carers.
- If charges are levied, the lowest possible charge should be applied.
- If charges are introduced, there should be means testing.
- £5-£10, above this and it will be unaffordable.
- The lowest charge of £6.
- £20 is too much for those that regularly attend, £12 is more acceptable with a meal.
- Charges would particularly hit those just above the level of income support and those with the lowest level of income.
- With increases in other costs, such of meals, this would particularly hit those in need.

63

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT QUESTIONNAIRE/CHECKLIST - Proposals to start charging for attendance at day centre charging

Summary statement

Many respondents to the EIA and the consultation thought that the proposals would impact equally on all service users, who would be financially assessed as being liable for a charge, and therefore no one group would be more adversely impacted in comparison to other groups. Other respondents said that it is not possible to know in advance if particular groups would be differentially impacted, as the proposals centre around changes to existing policy.

However, some respondents disagreed and voiced concern that the following groups of people COULD be differentially impacted

- Age
- Race
- Disability
- Carers

This was due mainly to the following two potential factors

- 1. Day Centres are an important link to other health and social care services for many service users, and the introduction of charges may 'weaken' this link for those who are assessed to pay.
- 2. Financially families may have less money available for other family expenditure, if they pay towards for a day centre placement.

Actions to monitor differential impact if members choose to adopt the proposals:

1. Set up a formal monitoring group to determine if any of the potential concerns materialise. The group would consider appropriate measures required to reduce differential impact for any group.

Directorate People First			Section	Commu	Community Care		
1 Name of the function/ policy to assessed	o be	Proposals to start charging for attendance at day centres	2 Date of Assessment	July 2007	3 Is this a new or existing function/policy?	New/proposed policy that has been the subject of a recent user and public consultation	
4 Briefly describe the aims, objectives and purpose of the function/policy			In London at least half of cor 2007 charges across Londo looking to increase their charge service in the past but is not Council is in a position to Each day centre placement the level of care needed per Option one: Keep nil charge Option two: Introduce a charge Option four: Introduce a charge Option four: Introduce a characteristic in London four: Introduce a charac	n ranged from arges much fur we putting forward deliver the second placement. The as now arge of £6 per harge of £20 per arge arge arge arge arge arge arge ar	£2.10 to £50 per day, ther. Harrow Council hard proposals to enservice within budget. Incil between £41 to £8 hese are the options the day (£3 per half day)* Der day (£6 per half day) are day (£10 per half day)	but some councils are has not charged for this sure that Harrow 6 per day, depending on he council is considering	
5 Are there any associated objectives of the function/policy? Please explain			Sustainable Communities Plan 2006-2020 National Framework Draft Community development Strategy Budget Reports				
6 Who is intended to benefit from the function/policy and in what way?		Harrow Council as options 2 to 4 would generate income to help meet the costs of providing day centre services.					
7 What outcomes are wanted from this function/policy?			To introduce charging for pe contribution, in order to help				

11 What data or other existing

assess whether the

paper if necessary)

evidence have you used to

function/policy might have a

differential impact? (please continue on a separate piece

Over 50 organisations and individuals were asked to submit their views specifically for this EIA. Respondents are listed in section 18.

By analysing the data gained from the consultation process. Consultation packs were sent out to 957 current, recent or potential service users, 2000 carers, 425 local organisations and the 63 councillors. Free return envelopes were provided for completed feedback sheets. In order to encourage feedback, potential respondents were able to choose from the following methods to express their views.

- By post using a free return envelope (to send back feedback sheets)
- Calling the dedicated telephone consultation line (feedback sheets were filled in by council staff)
- Via email to the dedicated consultation email address
- By taking part in the three public meetings organised by Harrow Council as well as attending the Public Question Time Meeting (attended by 46 people)
- By taking part in the meetings/workshops organised independently and specifically to feedback into the consultations. Three meetings organised by Harrow Mencap (three meetings attended by over 100 people of which 76 were people with learning disabilities and their families and carers), the Harrow Users Group (19 people), Milmans Day Centre service user group (37 service users), The Bridge Service Users Group meeting (37 service users), The Young Carers Project, Harrow MS Society and the Partnership for Older People (POPS) panel, Older Peoples Reference Group and HSP. Written notes of the meetings/workshops were sent for inclusion within the consultation, and have been included in this summary.
- 12 Has the data or other evidence raised concerns that the function/policy might have a differential impact? If so in what area?

Age Race Disability Carers Many respondents thought that the proposals would impact equally on all service users who would have to pay for attending a day centre. However, some respondents voiced two main areas of concern:

- 1. Day Centres are an important link to other health and social care services for many service users, and the introduction of charges may 'weaken' this link for those who are assessed to pay.
- 2. Possible adverse financial implications for service users and carers who can afford to contribute of day centre charges.

The above points have been determined from the range of concerns fed back from respondents. These are listed below, under the headings of section 12. Data of service users as at 31st March

NOTE 1: Electronic recording of social care user data began last year on Framework i. Some user data remains partially complete, hence there is some disparity of totals in the data tables provided.

NOTE: 2: Both The Bridge and Wiseworks provided information separately on their current service, since those users are held on JADE, a separate database, holding information on service users with mental health needs. Some service users will be on both databases.

13 What are the concerns? (please continue on a separate piece paper)

Age

 Some older service users are likely to have settled within their present circumstances and may have difficulty in coping with changes to their long-established routine. It was thought that may be fewer 'alternative' services that can be accessed by older people.

2007 is also stated (see notes 1 and 2 below).

• It may deter some older people from accessing or using day centres because the 'means tested' approach could be viewed as being 'intrusive'.

- Possible increased isolation for older service users who have been assessed to pay but chose not to use the service. In such case, may have fewer alternatives for contact with friends and people other than family members, as well as providing a break from home.
- A 'quicker' rate of deterioration in individuals personal care and health without the support of day centres than would otherwise be
 the case, as the day centre staff often provide information and support to access health advice as part of general social care
 support.

The breakdown of day care service users by age is shown below. The figures were obtained from Frameworki and from placements attending the Bridge and Wiseworks.

Age	No. of day care users	% of day care users
19-45 years	161	26.0%
46-65	223	36.0%
66-75	97	15.7%
76-85	92	14.9%
85+	46	7.4%
Total	619	100.0%

See Notes 1 and 2 in section 13 above.

Race

- Studies have shown that people from BME communities are amongst the poorest and most excluded groups, finding it more difficult to access services or ask for help. The impact of a decision to refuse or to reduce a service in the event of having to contribute to the cost, affecting both service users and carers may be more likely to be 'hidden' amongst certain ethnic groups.
- Language and understanding the system can be daunting and prohibitive for some BME communities.
- For people living in isolated communities, day centres may be their main contact with the services and route to necessary support. If the take up of day centre provision is reduced this group of people will suffer more than the rest of the population.
- Assessments/ re-assessments may not take cultural factors and needs into consideration, for example if a mother is not around it would not be possible in some cultures for a father to live with and to take care of his daughter's needs. Asian groups tend to live

in culturally appropriate environments with extended families, if an assessment indicates less need, this could cause some difficulties and possibly increase isolation.

The breakdown of day care service users by ethnicity is shown below.

Ethnicity	No. of day care users	% of day care users
White	290	48.9%
Asian or Asian British	241	40.7%
Black or Black British	28	4.7%
Other Ethnic Groups	21	3.5%
Mixed	13	2.2%
Total	593	100.0%

See Notes 1 and 2 in section 13 above.

Disability

- People with mental health problems/disabilities tend to be more socially isolated than those, not in receipt of social care interventions. If the costs of day care inhibit attendance this may increase the level of isolation and social interaction.
- Potential conflict with the DDA 1995. The introduction of charges could potentially be seen as making it more difficult for people to have access to services.
- People with learning disabilities, dementia and mental incapacity may be particularly disadvantaged if they are not supported in understanding what the proposals are and how they may affect them.
- Additional financial pressures to pay for other items or additional related to their disability not encountered by non-disabled people.

The breakdown of day care service users by service user group is shown below.

Service user Group	No. of day care users	% of day care users
Learning Disability	341	57.1%
Physical disability, frailty and sensory impairment	233	39.0%

(including older people)		
Mental Health	23	3.9%
Total	597	100.0%

See Notes 1 and 2 in section 13 above.

Carers

The proposals are more likely to affect service users who share their home with their carers/families than those living alone (who are less likely not to have sufficient income to be eligible to pay any charges). Thus the following points are more likely to be applicable to the former set of carers/families.

- Pressure on carers to provide alternative support for the cared for person. The limited availability of respite care in Harrow further compounds this point.
- Carers may not be able to support the cared for person to access community resources/alternative services.
- Some carers may have to make changes at home, possibly giving up work, education and leisure, which would need consideration in light of the 2004 Equal Opportunities Act for Carers. This would be applicable to carers eligible for social care services.
- Financially families may have less money available for other family expenditure, if they pay towards for a day centre placement.
- If charges are introduced and if current service users remain at home, they will be more dependent on their carers for support and social stimulation. This could cause health and social pressures due to an increased caring function, such as a loss of personal time for carers and other family members as well as more physical and mental pressures.

14 Does the differential impact amount to adverse impact i.e. could it be discriminatory, directly or indirectly?	Potentially YES but it is not possible to fully determine if the concerns will materialise	15 If yes, can the adverse impact be justified on the grounds of promoting equality of opportunity for one group? Or any other reason?	NO		
16 Have you considered ways in which the adverse impact might be reduced or eliminated?	The EIA has revealed potential concerns of differential impact for the groups listed in section 12. Councillors are yet to decide if any of the proposals are to be implemented. However, if the proposals are implemented, a formal monitoring group should be set up to determine if any of the concerns listed under section 13 materialise/exist, in the event and extent of any decision to change the criteria. This group should also consider appropriate measures to reduce differential impact for any groups, as noted under the improvement plan at the end of this document.				
17 How have you made sure you have consulted with the relevant groups and service users from Ethnic Minorities? Disabled people? Men and women generally?	Yes, please see section 11 for details and the list of specific EIA respondents in point 18.				

18. Please give details of the relevant

service users, groups and experts

you are approaching for their views

on the issues

Specific responses for the request for information for the EIA were received from:

- Age Concern
- Bentley Resource Centre
- Brember Day Centre
- Bridge*
- Carers Support Group
- Central & North West London Mental Heath Trust
- Harrow Association of the Disabled staff and service users*
- Harrow Association of Voluntary Organisations
- Harrow Council Staff
- Harrow Rethink Support Group *
- Harrow User Group*
- Mencap (3 meetings)*
- Mind in Harrow
- Milmans staff and service users*
- Tanglewood (people with learning disabilities and carers)*
- Wiseworks*
- Young Carers Project*

Feedback to specific questions were also obtained from the 97 people who attended the public consultation meetings, of whom 20 were deemed to be from a visible ethnic minority background. Participants in each public meeting identified themselves as a mix of service users (38%), carers (49%) and voluntary organisation representatives (12%) and a GP (1%).

^{*} Denotes that a response was sent feeding back the thoughts of a specific user group session/meeting

19 How will the views of these groups be obtained? (Please tick)	Letter Meetings Interviews Telephone Workshops Fora Questionna Other: Email	S	20 Please give the date when each group/expert was contacted	Throughout the consultation/EIA period - 26 March 2007 to 25 June 2007.
21 Please explain in detail the views of the relevant groups/experts on the issues involved. (Please use a separate sheet if necessary)		Covered in detail under section 13.		
22 Taking into account the views of the groups/experts, please clearly state what changes if any you will make, including the ways in which you will make the function/policy accessible to all service users, or if not able to do so, the areas and level of risk (Please continue on a separate sheet if necessary)		The Cabinet is yet to decide if any of the proposals are to be implemented. However, if a charge is introduced, a formal monitoring group should be set up to determine if any of the concerns listed under section 13 materialise. This group should also consider appropriate measures to reduce differential impact for any groups, as noted under the improvement plan in this document.		
23 Please describe how you intend to monitor the effect this function/policy has on different minority groups (Please continue on a separate sheet if necessary)		See 22 above.		

24 If any elements of your function/policy are provided by third parties please state, what arrangements you have in place to ensure that to ensure that the Council's equal opportunities criteria are met.	Not applicable.		
25 Please list any performance targets relating to equality that your function/policy includes, and any plans for new targets. (Please continue on a separate sheet if necessary.)	Not applicable.		
26 How will you publish the results of this Impact assessment?	Via the Harrow website, with printed copies sent to people on request. All councillors will receive a copy of this report prior to the Cabinet meeting on July.	27 Date of next assessment	On-going from the start of introduction, if the proposals are adopted.

Please list actions you intend to take as a result of this assessment. Attach additional sheets if necessary.

IMPROVEMENT PLAN

The following applies only if any proposals are implemented.

ISSUE IDENTIFIED	ACTION REQUIRED	LEAD OFFICER	TIMESCALE	COMMENTS
Potential concerns in section 13	To set up a formal monitoring group, that will report back to the Director of Adult Services and Cabinet, if potential concerns have materialised. The actions required to mitigate any differential impact should be considered in detail with timescales for implementation.	Mark Gillett.	To begin monitoring from the date of implementation of any proposals. A formal cabinet report should be produced outlining the main findings 6 months from the implementation date with appropriate recommendations for reducing or eliminating differential impact, if any. A report from the monitoring group should be considered in a cabinet meeting and made public via the Harrow Website.	The monitoring group will gather the views of service users and key stakeholder organisations. Focus groups may be appropriate as well as the collation of case studies. Recommendations for reducing or eliminating differential impact, if any, should include timescales.

Signed: Date: July 16 2007

NAME: Peter Singh, Service Manager Research and Strategic Planning, Completing officer

Signed: Date: July 16 2007

NAME: Mark Gillett, Group Manager +, Lead Officer

This page is intentionally left blank